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Welcome to our Faith and Peace Walk

We are very pleased to welcome you to our 4th annual Faith and
Peace Walk. This year we are walking around New and East Barnet.
Whatever our traditions, we share one planet which we all have a
common responsibility to care for. As part of our walk, we will be
learning about the history and development of some of the amazing
buildings, places of worship and open spaces available to residents
and how more can be done to increase their potential as sustainable
community spaces.

Our sincere thanks to Mark Oliver, Dave McCormick, Asmina
Remtulla and the many volunteers from the community of New and
East Barnet and beyond, for their hard work and collaboration in
bringing this event together.

Es Rosen — President, Barnet Multi Faith Forum

Middlesex University and Barnet Multi Faith Forum have long shared a
proud tradition of collaboration. This 4th annual Faith and Peace
Walk is the latest in a series of inspiring initiatives aimed at uniting
our diverse communities. By visiting various places of worship and
open public spaces, we create meaningful opportunities to learn
about one another's faiths, traditions, and the shared spaces that
support our health and wellbeing.

At Middlesex University, equality, diversity, and inclusion are
fundamental to who we are. | am delighted to be taking part in this
walk and look forward to connecting with members of our vibrant
local community, as we come together to celebrate the cultural
richness and heritage of New and East Barnet. Sincere gratitude to the
faith leaders and many volunteers who have helped to organise and
participated in this walk.

Monna Rizvi, co-Chair Middlesex University Inter Faith Network



Introduction

This document provides information about the history of the area and
points of interest along the way. Hopefully it can inspire you to
explore the area and take time to reflect on how our lives today have
been shaped by the natural environment and by our history. The walk
which is around six kilometres long can be extended by taking in
other parts of New and East Barnet, by walking around Monken
Hadley and Hadley Woods and by following the Pymmes Brook trail.

Our History

The Forest of Middlesex

The walk takes place in what was once part of the Forest of
Middlesex, an area covering much of what is now the northern part of
Greater London. At its ancient extent the forest stretched twelve
miles north from the city walls at Houndsditch. Following the Norman
Conquest, it became the royal forest of Middlesex, where citizens of
the City of London enjoyed the right of free chase by charters granted
by Henry | and Henry Il. Enfield Royal Chase originated in Enfield
Wood, part of the Forest of Middlesex and was created in around
1140 after William | gave the manors of Edmonton and Enfield to
Geoffrey de Mandeville. Just north of the start of the walk evidence of
our rural past can still be seen at Monken Hadley Common, Hadley
Woods and Trent Park, all once part of Enfield Royal Chase.

What’s in a name - Cockfosters and Barnet

In the 15th century, the forest was protected by foresters housed in
three lodges. The ‘fosters’ part of the name is apparently derived from
an Elizabethan-era variant of the word forester while ‘cock’ is an old
word for leader or chief. Cockfosters, then, literally means the home
of the chief or head forester.

The name Barnet is believed to come from the word “Baernet”
meaning an area cleared by burning.



Changing Ownership

Research by Hendon and District Archaeological Society suggests
that in 1005 King Athelred granted Kingsbury and its attached wood
at Barnet to the Abbey of St Albans (at that time the Bishop of London
was already holding Friern Barnet). In 1199, the Abbot of St Albans
was granted a charter by King John to establish a market in Barnet.
This led to the town becoming known as Chipping Barnet, the word
‘Chipping’ being derived from the Anglo-Saxon ‘ceap’ meaning a
bargain or market.

In 1471, the Battle of Barnet was a decisive engagement in the Wars
of the Roses, a dynastic conflict of 15th-century England which,
along with the subsequent Battle of Tewkesbury, secured the throne
for Edward IV.

In 1539, King Henry VIII’s dissolution of the

Monastery of St Albans meant that he took over

the ownership of the Manor of Chipping & East

Barnet. His son, King Edward VI then sold on

the Manor of East Barnetin 1553 but kept the

advowson (patronage) for himself. The next few hundred years saw
the landed gentry establish privately owned estates.

In the mid-19™ century people needed to be a landowner to qualify for
a parliamentary vote. The freehold land movement led to the
emergence of development companies including the British Land
Company who purchased much of the land that is now New Barnet.

In the 1920s and 1930s East Barnet Council purchased land for parks
and recreation grounds.

From a Place to Stop to a Place to Live

The location of Chipping Barnet, on the Great North Road, at the top
of a steep hill, ten miles from Charing Cross and ten miles from St
Albans made it a natural stopping point for stagecoaches and for a
while it was called the “town of inns” due to the number of coaching
inns (twenty-five in 1756).



1850 - 1940 saw the arrival of railway and underground stations.

New Barnet railway station was opened in 1850 as part of the Great
Northern Railway (GNR) line between Peterborough and London.

Oakleigh Park railway station, the GNR station for East Barnet,
openedin 1873.

The GNR had opened High Barnet Station in 1872, but it wasn’t until
1939 that the station was connected to the Northern line with the first
underground trains arriving in 1940. The mainline steam trains
ceased operating in 1941.

Cockfosters railway station, the northern terminus of the Piccadilly
line, opened in 1933.

The Green Belt (London and Home Counties) Act 1938 led to
protection of areas north of Cockfosters and Chipping Barnet and
helped stimulate the development of New and East Barnet as a place
to live. We became suburbia.



Cockfosters to Pymmes Brook

Christ Church Cockfosters

The walk begins at Christ Church Cockfosters which was founded in
1839 by Robert Cooper Lee Bevan, a member of the family who also
founded Barclays Bank. The monument to the Bevan family is the
largest single monument in the graveyard at Christ Church.

Cockfosters Cricket Club

Heading east we pass Cockfosters Cricket
Club which was founded in 1873 and is still an
active club. A few metres past the club are
Bevan Road and a view down into the valley
where New and East Barnet are located.

New Bevan Estate

The New Bevan housing estate, named after
the Bevan family, was built in the 1940s and
1950s with the primary aim of accommodating
families displaced by wartime bombing and
urban overcrowding.

The Jester Public House

Built in 1958, because of a petition from
residents, The Jester became a well frequented
pub and restaurant until 2018 when it was
damaged in a fire and partly demolished.



New Bevan Methodist Church

The New Bevan Baptist Church, which opened

in 1958, ceased to be a Baptist churchin 2017

when it was renamed the New Bevan

Community Church and continued to be home

of the Barnet Christian Fellowship which had

been a tenant for the previous 18 years,

organising numerous community events. The church was sold for
housing development and construction of a two-storey community
building which was completed in 2022.

Pymmes Brook and Trail

Underground springs at Hadley Common are

the source of the Monken Mead Brook which

flows into three fishponds (partly on the

Common and partly on land owned by Hadley

Golf Course). After the third pond, commonly known as Jack’s Lake,
the brook is called Pymmes Brook (named after William Pymme, a
landowner who in 1327 built Pymmes House in what is now Pymmes
Park, in Edmonton).

The first stretch of Pymmes Brook flows from
Jacks’ Lake down the valley into New Barnet
then on to East Barnet helping to attract wildlife
to the gardens of houses alongside the brook.

From East Barnet the brook flows south-east to

the Lee Navigation and River Lea which joins the River Thames at Bow
Creek. (Constructed elements and human features are spelled Lee,
such as the canal system and Lee Valley Park. The un-canalized river
is spelled Lea, along with other natural features such as Lower Lea
Valley).

The Pymmes Brook Trail is in the London Boroughs of Barnet, Enfield
and Haringey and is just under 13 miles (21 km) long. The trail goes
from Hadley Green to Tottenham Hale, where the trail connects with
the Lea Valley Walk.



New Barnet

Schools and Bats

Livingstone Primary and Nursery School, which
opened in 1954, is a small one-form entry
schoolin New Barnet set in extensive grounds
on the edge of Hadley Wood.

The Pymmes Brook trail borders the school
grounds and an area of woodland with a Bat Conservation Area.

The Jewish Community Secondary School (JCoSS), which opened in
2010 is built on the site of the John Hampden Secondary School.

In 1976, John Hamden School combined with

East Barnet School (previously East Barnet
Grammar School) as an 11-18 co-educational
comprehensive operating from two sites. The

East Barnet School site just off Cat Hill was

then re-developed and the two schools fully
merged allowing the development of the JCoSS site.



Victoria Recreation Ground

The Recreation Ground was laid out in the late

19" century. Today, it is mainly grassed and has

playgrounds, football pitches, tennis and

basketball courts, a bowling green, car park

and Leisure Centre including a 25m pool and

gym, Library and Cafe (opened in 2019). The

flower beds near to the bowls club are the remains of a formal flower
garden. The Shirebourne Brook runs along the south side of the park
and the Pymmes Brook Trail passes north—south through the park.
Two sports clubs are based in the park: Barnet and District Athletic
Club who hold several training sessions at New Barnet Leisure
Centre, and East Barnet Valley Bowls Club which was founded in
1927 by members of the East Barnet Urban Council to provide local
people with the chance to participate in a sport on land donated by
the owner of Folly Farm.

Barnet Football Club - a complicated history

Their original ground of Barnet FC (formed in 1888) was in Victoria
Recreation Ground, but the club folded in 1902. Local rivals Barnet
Avenue FC renamed themselves Barnet FC in 1904 and in 1907
established a ground at Underhill where the club continued to play
for more than a century before moving to the Hive in the Borough of
Harrow. In 1912 a merger between Barnet FC and near-neighbours
Alston Works created a club called Barnet and Alston FC, which in
1919 shortened the name to Barnet FC.

Shirebourne Brook

The Shirebourne Brook rises in King George's

Fields, Hadley. It is culverted between the

eastern side of the Fields at Bosworth Road

until it emerges overground at the south-west

corner of the Victoria Recreation Ground where

it flows along the southern side of the park,

goes under Park Road, then joins the Pymmes Brook.



The Gas Works

Adjacent to the recreation ground is the site of
the Barnet District Gas and Water Company
gas works that dates to the 1860s.

Development of the site is through two housing
projects. New Barnet Park Quarteris a
development by Fairview New Homes
comprising eleven blocks of flats ranging from
four to eight storeys in height providing 420
homes.

Berkeley Homes are planning to demolish the
old gasometer and build houses.

New Barnet

Before the railway line was built there was no New Barnet. To build
the railway the Great Northern Company had to buy land from
different farms and estates. The owner of Lyonsdown estate forced
the railway company to purchase the whole of the estate. In 1850, the
railway company kept what they needed and sold the rest to The
British Land Company.

East Barnet Town Hall, in Station Road (originally called New Barnet
Road) was opened in 1892 and was the local seat of government until
1965 when the London Borough of Barnet was established. It was
kept as a council premises until 1988 when it was sold. After a period
being empty it was an Italian then a Greek restaurant and in 2007 it
became a block of flats called Chambers Court.

Several office blocks that were built in Station Road opposite the
Town Hallin the 1960s and 70s have since been converted to flats.

The nearby War Memorial, which was unveiled
in1921 by the Lord Lieutenant of Hertfordshire,
was originally dedicated to the 278 men of East
Barnet who were killed in the First World War. It
cost about £1,000 and the figure on the top
represents victory.
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Lyonsdown Road and the adjacent Somerset
Road are home to three places of worship -
Holy Trinity Church (1864), Mary Immaculate
and St Peter (also the home of Chipping Barnet
Food Bank), and St John’s United Reform
(which hosts the Incredible Edible Barnet
community garden).

East Barnet Road to East Barnet Village

In 1870, there was a volunteer fire brigade at Hope Villas, East Barnet
Road. In 1903 it was replaced by a purpose-built station in Leicester
Road with a full-time force. A police station was opened at the
junction of Edward and Margaret Roads in 1884, with one inspector,
three sergeants and 15 constables, but was closed in 1933.

Today, East Barnet Road is a busy suburban road connecting Barnet
to Enfield and home to St James Church, Kingdom Hall of Jehovah'’s
Witness and Barnet Subud Hall. Lyonsdown, an independent
evangelical church currently based at Danelands School in East
Barnet, has purchased the site recently used by Bodens Performing
Arts to build a new church.

Just off East Barnet Road are two more places of worship - the
Tibetan Yungdrung Bon Study Centre (Henry Road) and Barnet
Islamic centre (Brookhill Road).
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East Barnet Village

While most of New Barnet and East Barnet Road is relatively new,
East Barnet Village is much older, and here we find East Barnet
Baptist Church and Brookside Methodist Church.

The village grew up around the crossing of Pymmes Brook and there
was a bridge known as Katebrygge in1406 at Cat Hill. In the early 17"
century, a large house in the centre of the village was the home of
Ralph Gill, the keeper of the lions that were kept at the Tower of
London. The house, which was also known as the Clockhouse
because it had a small clock turret was demolished in 1925 and
replaced by Clockhouse Parade.

Prince of Wales Public House

There has been a public house on the same site
since 1876. The first licensee of the Prince of
Wales was William Jackson who built houses in
the adjoining Jackson Road. In 2024 the pub
was added to the Council list of community
assets, and it has now been refurbished and re-
opened.

East Barnet War Memorial and Brookside Methodist Church

East Barnet war memorial was unveiled in
1920. It remained in the centre of the road
junction until 1970 when it was moved in front
of Brookside Methodist Church whose
premises are a mixture of buildings dating from
1930, 1967 and 1972.
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Further walking

For those wishing to explore more of East Barnet the following may be
of interest.

Little Grove Estate

Little Grove, originally called Danegrove, was a house and estate in
East Barnet dating from at least the mid-sixteenth century. In 1932
the house was demolished and is now the location for a primary
school and surrounding houses.

Oak Hill Park and Wood

Oak Hill Park, which is just beyond the end of our walk, is a large area
of parkland. Pymmes Brook and The Pymmes Brook Trail pass
through the park.

The valley of Pymmes Brook used to be famed for its oak trees which
were used in the building of St Albans Abbey. The descendants of
those trees survive in Oak HillWood. In 1536 the church lands were
sold and large estates created, one of which became Oak Hill
Theological College. The Baring family owned the area from the 1860s
to around 1930 when it was sold to East Barnet Council. The park was
opened to the public in 1933.

Today Oak Hill Wood is a steeply sloped ancient woodland of
hornbeam, oak and ash with a tributary of the Pymmes Brook within
the wood. A variety of species have been seen in the wood including
Brown long-eared bat, Tawny Owl, Great Crested Newt,
Sparrowhawks and the Gatekeeper Butterfly.

St Mary’s Church

St Mary’s Church, in Church Hill Road, is situated above Oak Hill
Park. The nave of the present church still stands on the foundations
of the original chapel more than 925 years later. The community halls,
opened in 2022 makie St Mary’s the oldest and the newest church in
Barnet.
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Air Quality

As the walk marked Clean Air Day 2025 the
following provides some data regarding air
quality in East Barnet.

Between September 2021 and December 2024,

an air quality monitor was installed at Cat Hill

Allotments near to the Pymmes Brook crossing. The monitor was
installed as part of the Breathe London network (funded by the GLA)
and the location was chosen as it was “expected to have low
pollution levels”.

Analysis of the data by Clean Air Barnet shows that the air quality at
Cat Hillimproved between 2022 and 2024, and that it was broadly
like that at other Breathe London monitors in Barnet.

While the annual averages met the UK guidelines, they all exceeded
the World Health Organisation guideline (as did most of London).

NO2 annual average ug/m3 2022 | 2023 | 2024 24/22
Cat Hill Allotments 26.6 | 24.6 | 24.2 9.0%
Martin Primary School Playground | 30.4 | 279 | 26.4 13.2%
The Orion Primary School 25.7 | 23,5 | 215 16.3%
Wessex Gardens Primary School 29.3 | 26.9 | 24.6 16.0%
PM2.5 average ug/m3 2022 | 2023 | 2024 24/22
Cat Hill Allotments 10.9 8.8 8.1 25.7%
Martin Primary School Playground | 8.5 7.8 7.9 7.1%
The Orion Primary School 10.2 9.0 9.0 11.8%
Wessex Gardens Primary School 9.1 7.9 7.7 15.4%

14



Places of Worship in New and East Barnet

Churches include St James (East Barnet Road), St Mark's (Potters
Road), Holy Trinity (Corner of Lyonsdown and Somerset Roads); Mary
Immaculate & St Peter (Somerset Road); St John's United Reformed
Church (corner of Somerset and Mowbray Roads); Quaker Friends'
Meeting (Leicester Road). Barnet Christadelphians Church in a
House (Station Road), East Barnet Baptist Church (Crescent Road),
Brookside Methodist Church (Cat Hill), St Mary’s East Barnet Parish
Church (Church Hill Road).

There is a United Synagogue (Eversleigh Road). Tibetan Yungdrung
Bon Study Centre (Henry Road). Kingdom Hall of Jehovah’s Witness(
East Barnet Road). Barnet Subud Hall (East Barnet Road) Lyonsdown
(independent Evangelical Church) plans to build a church in East
Barnet Road.

Faith organisation websites

Christ Church Cockfosters: https://www.cockfosters.church/

St Mark’s Church Barnet Vale: https://stmarksbarnet.weebly.com/

Religious Society of Friends (Quakers): https://newbarnetquakers.org.uk/

Barnet Christadelphians: https://church-in-a-house.squarespace.com/

St Johns United Reform Church: https://www.stjohnsnewbarnet.org.uk/

Mary Immaculate and St Peter Church: https://stpetersnewbarnet.org.uk/

Holy Trinity Church: https://holytrinitychurchlyonsdown.weebly.com/

St James Church: https://www.stjamesnewbarnet.com/

Kingdom Hall of Jehovah’s Witness: https://www.jw.org/en/

Subud: https://subudlondon.org/

Come and See Ministries: https://www.comeandseeministries.net/

Lyonsdown: https://lyonsdown.org/

YungDrung Bon Study Centre: https://www.yungdrungbon.com/ku-soom-ling.html

Barnet Islamic Centre: https://barnetislamiccentre.org/about-us/

East Barnet Baptist Church: https://ebarnetbaptist.org.uk/

Brookside Methodist Church: https://www.barnetbrookside.co.uk/brookside/

St Mary’s East Barnet Parish Church: https://stmaryseastbarnet.org/
Barnet Multi Faith Forum: https://barnetmultifaithforum.org/
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Sources and further information

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/libraries/local-studies-and-archives/pocket-

histories/barnet

https://www.barnetsociety.org.uk/

https://www.barnetadac.com/

https://eastbarnetvalleybowlsclub.weebly.com/

https://barnetfc.com/history-honours

https://www.wildlondon.org.uk/nature-reserves/oak-hill-wood

https://www.mhctrust.org.uk/history-of-monken-hadley-common/

https://www.hadas.org.uk/author/lwdadmin/

https://stmaryseastbarnet.org/history/

Words and images courtesy of Creative Sensemaking CIC
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